
Page 1 of 1 

AGENDA FOR REGULAR MEETING 
VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 

PLAN COMMISSION 

 September 20, 2018 – 7:00 P.M. 
Council Chambers 

Village Hall – 16250 S. Oak Park Avenue 
 

Regular Meeting Called to Order 
Pledge of Allegiance 
Roll Call Taken 
Communications 
Approval of Minutes: Minutes of the September 06, 2018 Regular Meeting 
 
Item #1 WORKSHOP/PUBLIC HEARING: FERGUSON ENTERPRISES, INC. -7950 UNIT A, B, 

C 185TH STREET, GRANTING A SPECIAL USE PERMIT 
Consider recommending that the Village Board grant the Petitioner, Ferguson Enterprises, Inc a  
Special Use Permit to allow to allow a retail show room at 7950 W. 185th Street Suite A,B,C in the 
ORI (Office and Restricted Industrial) District. 

Item #2 WORKSHOP:  VETERINARY CLINIC- 17745-17749 OAK PARK AVENUE SITE PLAN 
APPROVAL AND GRANTING VARIATIONS 
Consider granting Site Plan Approval to modify the exterior of the existing one-story commercial 
building and consider recommending that the Village Board grant the Petitioner, Cynthia Cecott, 
the following Variations requested: 
1. A Variation from Section XII.2.D.10.b to apply the Heritage Site Standards exceeding 50% 

of the property’s market value in site improvements.  
2. A 19 parking stall Variation from Section XII.2.D.10.c. (Table 2.D.7) to reduce the required 

number of street level commercial parking to eight (8) parking stalls where the required 
number is 26 parking stalls. 

 
Good of the Order 
Receive Comments from the Public 
Adjourn Meeting 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  
                         September 6, 2018           

Page 1 of 13 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE  
PLAN COMMISSION, VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, 
COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, ILLINOIS 

 
SEPTEMBER 6, 2018 
 
 

 
 

The Regular Meeting of the Plan Commission was held in the Council Chambers of Village Hall on September 6, 2018 at 
7:00 p.m. 
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
ROLL CALL 
 
Plan Commissioners:  Ken Shaw, Chairman 

Tim Stanton 
Eduardo Mani 
Angela Gatto  
Chuck Augustyniak 
Stephen Vick 
 

Absent Plan Commissioner(s):   Lucas Engel 
Garrett Gray 
MaryAnn Aitchison  
 

Village Officials and Staff: Michael Glotz, Trustee 
    Douglas Spale, Village Attorney 

Paula Wallrich, Community Development Director 
Kimberly Clarke, Planning Manager 
Dan Ritter, Senior Planner 

    Barbara Bennett, Commission Secretary  
 
Guest(s): Robert Hansen, Mary McBride, Mark Diedrich, David Sosin, Dan McMillan 
 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
PLAN COMMISSION CHAIRMAN SHAW called to order the Regular Meeting of the Plan Commission for September 
6, 2018 at 7:00 p.m. 
  
COMMUNICATIONS 
 
None at this time 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
 
Minutes of the August 16, 2018 Regular Meeting of the Plan Commission were presented for approval.  A Motion was 
made by COMMISSIONER STANTON, seconded by COMMISSIONER GATTO, to approve the Minutes as presented.  
The Motion was approved by voice call.  CHAIRMAN SHAW declared the Motion approved as presented.  
 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  
                         September 6, 2018           

Page 2 of 13 

TO:   VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

FROM:  VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PLAN COMMISSION 
 
SUBJECT:  MINUTES OF THE SEPTEMBER 6, 2018 REGULAR MEETING 
 
Item #1 PUBLIC HEARING: THE BOULEVARD AT CENTRAL STATION-6701-6755 SOUTH STREET 

SITE PLAN APPROVAL, GRANTING A SPECIAL USE PERMIT, VARIATIONS AND 
PRELIMINARY/FINAL PLAT APPROVAL  
Consider granting Site Plan Approval and recommending that the Village Board grant the Petitioner, David 
Sosin, on behalf of South Street Development, LLC, a Special Use Permit to allow residential accessory 
uses on the Street Level in a mixed-use building and Variations from the Zoning & Legacy Codes to 
construct a 296,419 square foot 4-story mixed-use development consisting of 165 residential apartments 
and 29,853 square feet of retail space on the first floor for the property located at 6701-6755 South Street 
in the DC (Downtown Core) Zoning District. Consider granting preliminary and final plat approval for the 
subject property.  

 
A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER VICK, seconded by COMMISSIONER AUGUSTYNIAK to open the Public 
Hearing for the Boulevard at Central Station-6701-6755 South Street Site Plan Approval, Granting a Special Use Permit,  
Variations and Preliminary/Final Plat Approval. The Motion was approved by voice call.  CHAIRMAN SHAW declared 
the Motion approved.  
 
CHAIRMAN SHAW noted that Village Staff provided confirmation that appropriate notice regarding the Public Hearing 
was published in the local newspaper in accordance with State law and Village requirements.  
 
CHAIRMAN SHAW requested anyone present in the audience, who wished to give testimony, comment, engage in cross-
examination or ask questions during the Hearing stand and be sworn in. 
 
Kimberly Clarke, Planning Manager, presented her staff report including comments related to Site Plan, Architecture, 
Phasing, Off-Site Improvements, Access, Parking, Signage, and Lighting. Ms. Clarke highlighted images of the project 
architecture including its evolution since 2001.  She noted the project has always been presented as a mixed-use 
development.   
 
Ms. Clarke discussed the phasing of the project ((two phases) and explained that the first phase will occupy the southwest 
corner of South Street and 67th Court and will include 66 rental residential units. The first floor will have 23,487 square 
feet of which 15,130 square feet will be used for commercial space.  The remaining part of the first floor 9,357 square feet 
will be dedicated to mechanical space and accessory residential uses, which includes a fitness gym, bike storage, lobby 
lounge, mail room, and club room with kitchen, leasing office, conference room and property manager’s office.  There 
will also be a surface parking lot with 66 parking stalls behind the building and will be designated for residents only.  This 
lot will be conveyed to the Village for public parking upon completion of Phase 2.  The Village will retain ownership of 
the vacant land to the east until Phase 1 is complete.  If Phase 2 is not constructed within the specific time negotiated in 
the incentive agreement, a condition of the site plan approval will require that the parking lot in Phase 2 will be paved per 
Village standards by the developer.  Staff is recommending elimination of the proposed dog park area in Phase 1 and 
suggests the use of the vacant lot to the east for the dog area until Phase 2 is completed.    
 
Ms. Clarke displayed a drawing of the proposed Phase 2.  After completion of Phase 1 and within two years, Phase 2 will 
include an additional 99 rental residential units for a total overall project total of 165 residential units.  There will be 
14,723 square feet of first-floor commercial space and a partial underground parking garage consisting of 181 standard 
parking stalls. The residential amenities in this phase will include an in-ground pool on top of the parking garage.  When 
this phase is complete the surface parking lot behind Phase 1 will become a public parking lot owned by the Village. 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  
                         September 6, 2018           

Page 3 of 13 

As part of the project, the developer is required to complete specific off-site improvements including the completion of 
public streets abutting the development site, the realignment of the intersection of South Street and 67th Court, the addition 
of parallel parking spaces on the south side of South Street, and adding parallel parking on both sides of 174th Street.  
There are also plans to bury the existing overhead utilities.   
 
The project will have two (2) access points.  There is a one-way drive aisle off South Street that is approximately 21-22 
feet in width that extends south towards 174th Street.  There is also a full access drive proposed off 174th Street closest to 
67th Court that will allow for full access in and out of the surface parking lot.  There will be a reconfiguration of the 
intersection of South Street and 67th Court to a traditional “T” intersection which will allow for safer turning movements.  
There will also be streetscape improvements along South Street and the perimeter streets.  A consultant has been hired to 
provide a Streetscape Master Plan.   
 
In Phase 1 there will be 66 surface parking spaces which meet the 1:1 ratio requirement per Code.  There will also be on-
street parallel parking stalls along the south side of South Street and on both sides of 174th Street.  In Phase 2, there will be 
construction of a parking garage with 181 parking stalls.  The surface parking lot from Phase 1 will be converted to public 
parking that will be owned by the Village.  In the Staff Report, Ms. Clarke provided a graph of provided parking and 
parking requirements in nearby communities for comparison.  The developer suggested using some of the parallel parking 
on South Street as short-term loading zones for ride-share vehicles.  Staff notes this can be addressed as part of final 
engineering.   
 
A Variation is being requested from the Legacy Code requirement for the percentage of the primary and accent materials.  
Staff believes this Variation meets the intent of the Legacy Code.  Ms. Clarke displayed images of architectural detail 
changes made due to concerns regarding the proposed architecture.   
 
Ms. Clarke displayed images of the proposed floor plans for each floor.  Staff recommended modifications to the floor 
plan regarding the recycling rooms at the end of the hallways on each floor.  The architect has eliminated the rooms.   
Staff also recommended a condition that the proposed red awnings be replaced if the awning fades more than 40% in 
color.  Staff recommended relocating the fitness gym and the club room to an upper floor looking out to the pool area in 
the Phase 2 building when it is completed to give additional retail space on the first floor of Phase 1.   Ms. Clarke also 
recommended eliminating the separation between the Phase 2 residential building and the parking deck; the corridor 
would be maintained but would become interior to the building. She noted a concern for the easternmost commercial unit 
not having direct access like the rest of the units, especially if it were to be divided into two units.   
 
Ms. Clarke discussed the large projecting wall sign (25’ x 4’)on the corner of the building at South Street and 67th Court 
noting it required a Variation since it is located above the second floor.  She expressed concern about the sign and its 
proximity to the residential unit’s balconies and windows.  The signs will not be internally illuminated and lighting would 
be limited to the building’s façade lighting.  Ms. Clarke also noted that the Uniform Sign Plan needs modification with 
respect to the reference to signs such as electronic message boards which are not permitted.    
 
Ms. Clarke discussed the need for parking lot lighting and recommended the photometric plan be amended to provide 
lighting on the surface parking lot in Phase 1.   
 
With respect to landscaping, Ms. Clarke noted that perimeter landscaping will be provided around the east parking lot as 
part of Phase 1.  In the event Phase 2 is not constructed, landscaping must be provided per the plans around the perimeter 
of Phase 2, which is shown on the Phase 1 landscape plans.  Ms. Clarke displayed an image of the proposed landscaping 
around the pool area. 
 
Ms. Clark summarized the open items as follows:  

1. Phasing Schedule: Time frames are incorporated in the Incentive Agreement. The developer has two (2) years 
to complete Phase 1 and Phase 2 must start within two (2) years of Phase 1 completion.  1:1 parking ratio for 
residents will be maintained at all times. If Phase 2 is not constructed within 4 years of the completion of Phase 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  
                         September 6, 2018           

Page 4 of 13 

2, Staff recommends a condition of Site Plan approval will require the parking lot (in Phase 2) be required to be 
paved per Village standards by the Developer. 

2. Designate a Dog Area: Dog area is proposed on the far east side of the property adjacent to the future parking 
garage. Concern about its use during construction. Further discussion is needed regarding the lack of a dog area 
for Phase 1. 

3. Trash Storage and Pickup: Further discussion is needed. Proposed location appears to not be screened. 
4. Lower Level Parking Turnaround: Inadequate area to turn around; Staff recommends a condition of the Site 

Plan approval to revise the plans to allow for a vehicle to turnaround  
5. Parking Study: Concerns regarding the adequacy of parking despite meeting code requirement. Discussion 

about the need for a parking study. 
6. Awning color: Staff questions the use of red awning as a color choice. Staff is recommending any approval of 

the red awning include a condition that requires replacement of the awning when it experiences greater than 
40% color fade from the original RBG/Pantone color. 

7. Units adjacent to pool: Staff questions the desirability of the 2nd floor units and their balconies being at grade 
with the pool deck. Further discussion needed. 

8. East façade windows: The bricked in window in the recycling rooms should either be converted into glass 
windows or removed. Staff recommends removing the windows from the elevation noting that it does not 
negatively affect the overall aesthetics of that façade. 

9. Phase 2 service corridor: Staff questions the need for the internal service corridor proposed in Phase 2. Staff 
recommends further discussion on the issue regarding the integration of the parking deck and commercial units 
instead of spacing them and creating an open walkway. 

10. Projecting sign: There has been significant discussion regarding the projecting sign. Staff recommends further 
discussion.   

11. Landscaping: Address the landscaping comments per the Village’s landscape review. The developer has noted 
they will comply with the recent landscape plan review subject to a final streetscape plan completed by the 
Village. Staff recommends a condition of the Site Plan approval, the perimeter landscaping around the gravel lot 
be constructed in the event Phase 2 is never constructed. 

 
The property is zoned DC (Downtown Core) and is within the Legacy District.  A more detailed Zoning Analysis Chart 
was provided per staff request and is included in the Staff Report. Ms. Clarke noted all the variation requests, as well as 
the Special Use request and Final Plat approval are outlined in the Staff Report. 
 
CHAIRMAN SHAW asked the Petitioner to make a presentation. 
 
David Sosin, Attorney for the Petitioner noted he has been involved in this project for 12-13 years.   
 
Marc Diedrich, Architect displayed a PowerPoint presentation indicating images of proposed amenities and explained 
outstanding items and details of the project.  He noted that the balconies near the pool will not be an issue due to the 
sizable landscape buffer around the pool area.  The marquee sign on the building is an architectural feature that is not self-
illuminated.  Identifying this building to retail tenants is important.   The sign has been lowered per staff request.  Ride-
share parking and electric vehicle charging stations are being considered.  Parking should not be an issue as there are 
many different ways of getting around without a car.  Per the image in the Staff Report, alterations have been made to the 
building at staff request.    
 
Mr. Sosin noted at the request of staff he has inquired regarding comparing square foot size of units required in other 
neighboring villages per the International Building Code requirements.  He noted even though the unit size is below the 
800 square foot requirement, there are balconies and additional storage that will be additional space available to tenants.  
The parking in the downtown area should have one space per unit in order to encourage other means of transportation.  
The use of Zip Cars is being considered.  Three parking spaces will be provided for electric charging and the plan is to 
rough-in electric for additional charging stations in the future. The dog area is not an issue as a temporary spot can be used 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  
                         September 6, 2018           

Page 5 of 13 

until Phase 2 is built.  The sign is a very important issue as it is a way to identify the building for retail tenants.  He would 
prefer no condition to move the health club upstairs as it may not be necessary.  He will eliminate the recycling rooms.   
 
CHAIRMAN SHAW asked for question and comments from the Commissioners. 
 
COMMISSIONER MANI inquired about the trash enclosure and the pickup of trash.  Mr. Diedrich replied there will be 
no trash cans outside.  There is a hatched area along the driveway as a loading zone for trash pickup.   
 
CHAIRMAN SHAW asked the Commissioner’s to comment on the open items on page 23 of the Staff Report. 
 
CHAIRMAN SHAW inquired about the timing of the construction schedule and if there is a time requirement.  Ms. 
Clarke replied construction on Phase 2 would be within 2 years of the completion of Phase 1 occupancy. 
 
CHAIRMAN SHAW asked about parking for motorcycles and scooters.  Mr. Diedrich replied he is considering compact 
car spaces.  The rule for turnaround areas is 5 feet.  There are 3 ½ feet in this parking area and compact spaces could be 
used for this area to allow more room for a turnaround area.   
 
COMMISSIONER AUGUSTYNIAK inquired where retail customers would park.  Mr. Sosin replied there would be 
street parking in front of the retail and the Metra parking lot would also be available after 5:00.   
 
CHAIRMAN SHAW inquired why the building material variation was presented as a range. Mr. Diedrich replied it is a 
range depending on the individual facade of the building.   
 
COMMISSIONER GATTO agrees with staff regarding 40% fading replacement of the red awnings.  CHAIRMAN 
SHAW noted this would be difficult to enforce. Mr. Sosin noted he wanted a vibrant streetscape to encourage customers 
for the retail.  Ms. Clarke noted staff is looking for a uniform look.  It was discussed that it could be enforced as a 
property maintenance issue. Paula Wallrich, Community Development Director noted that fading is not a property 
management issue, however, pantone color references measurements could be used instead.   
 
CHAIRMAN SHAW requested further information regarding 2nd-floor units and their balconies being at grade level with 
pool deck.  COMMISSIONER VICK noted there is a landscaping buffer and he feels it can be a selling point for those 
units.  COMMISSIONER STANTON asked if the pool area would be policed.  Mr. Diedrich noted there is a fence around 
the pool.  COMMISSIONER MANI, GATTO, & AUGUSTYNIAK agreed there is no issue.   
 
CHAIRMAN SHAW inquired about removing windows in the recycling area; Mr. Diedrich replied the recycling rooms 
have been removed and the windows are no longer an issue.   
 
CHAIRMAN SHAW inquired about the internal corridor. Ms. Clarke noted there is a walkway between the garage and 
the Phase 2 building.  In the Phase 1 building, the retailers have access out to the surface parking lot.  In the Phase 2 
building, there is access but it opens up into a narrow corridor. Ms. Clarke stated that Staff did not know how desirable it 
is and if there is an ability to do a full interior corridor.  She felt this also impacts how the buildings are connected.  Mr. 
Diedrich replied this could be considered as an option for discussion.  He does not see residents using this.  There is also 
an advantage to not engaging the parking garage from a fire standpoint and along the corridor there are gas meters.  He 
would prefer this would not be a condition.  Also, this could be a dirty corridor as the retailers would be going out with 
the trash in this area.  CHAIRMAN SHAW inquired if the walkway is completely covered and would it be open to the 
general public.  Mr. Diedrich replied it is not completely covered and it would be possible to gate it with a keypad for the 
residents. COMMISSIONER VICK inquired if the internal service corridor would be extended to the end units so they 
can access the trash without going outside.  Ms. Clarke noted there is still one area that does not open up and a door could 
be provided.  Mr. Diedrich replied this will be addressed. 
 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  
                         September 6, 2018           

Page 6 of 13 

CHAIRMAN SHAW inquired about the sign.  COMMISSIONER VICK noted originally he had reservations but with the 
changes made it is fine now and he understands it is a good identifier of the building. COMMISSIONERS STANTON, 
AUGUSTYNIAK, GATTO, MANI AND SHAW agreed.  COMMISSIONER SHAW inquired about the ‘CENTRAL 
STATION” on the sign, noting this is not the name of the Metra station.  Mr. Sosin replied there are 2 train stations in 
Tinley Park and this is the downtown area or the Central Station. Mr. Hansen stated he would like to keep the name. 
 
CHAIRMAN SHAW inquired about relocating the fitness gym and clubroom to the second floor.  Mr. Diedrich replied 
that if the first phase of retails fills up then he would move the fitness gym to the second floor of Phase 2. Market 
conditions will determine whether it should be moved. If the lobby and clubroom are combined on the first-floor it would 
give more room for parties. If the gym and clubroom are not moved to the second floor, then there would be 2 additional 
apartment units.  CHAIRMAN SHAW noted the fitness gym would be desirable next to the pool. Ms. Clarke noted the 
pool area is the activity area.  If the gym and clubroom are vacant on the first floor it would not look good from the street 
and this is something to avoid.  There is 9,000 square feet of residential amenities on the first floor taking away from 
retail.  CHAIRMAN SHAW noted the Legacy Plan requires first floor retail.  He would recommend approval of the 
Variations with the conditions of moving them up unless there is a way to weigh the demand.  He noted a vacant store on 
the first floor would not look good. Robert Hansen noted the gym and clubroom on the first floor serve as ‘eye candy’ and 
help market the apartments to renters.  COMMISSIONER VICK noted the party room next to the lobby would be good 
for people hanging out, but he likes the fitness gym near the pool.  If the party room is on the second floor you would have 
to bring people through the hallways by the apartments to get to the room.   
 
COMMISSIONER VICK inquired about the dog walk area – what will be the procedure for clean-up for the dogs and will 
there be clean-up material available to residents.  Mr. Diedrich replied there would be clean up materials and also a dog 
washing area. 
 
COMMISSIONER STANTON inquired if there will be security cameras inside and outside.  Chairman Shaw inquired 
about  Gates being put at the walkway with lighting.  Mr. Diedrich replied there would be security cameras and he would 
agree that there could be gates and lighting.   
 
COMMISSIONER AUGUSTYNIAK inquired if there was any retail interest for the large space on the west end of the 
building.  Mr. Diedrich replied that space is a 5000 square foot area for a restaurant.  There is current interest. 
 
CHAIRMAN SHAW inquired about current work being done by the Village now.  Ms. Clarke replied there has been 
some engineering of the intersection and utilities, but South Street will be doing the physical construction of the roadway 
and streetscape improvements.   
 
CHAIRMAN SHAW inquired about the principles for the 800 square foot minimum on the apartment size.  Ms. Clarke 
replied she was not able to find anything except the regulations of the property maintenance code explaining the minimum 
bedroom size, minimum living room size and there is an efficiency unit that is required to be 220 square foot unit for up to 
two occupants or 320 square feet for up to three occupants.  This would be the smallest acceptable size based on the 
property maintenance code.  In 2006 minimum single-family home size was adopted to create a certain standard.  
CHAIRMAN SHAW noted the balconies do make a big difference as additional living space.  Ms. Clarke noted on the 
original Variation request for the square footage it was listed as 730 square feet and that has been revised to 749 square 
feet.  Mr. Diedrich requested the square footage to be 745.  CHAIRMAN SHAW agreed.   
 
CHAIRMAN SHAW inquired about the “Green” certification or use of solar on the project.  Mr. Diedrich replied at this 
time there are no plans to make the project LEED.  Most of the LEED projects are institutional.  The building codes today 
are much more efficient and you will end up with much more cost-effective buildings.  He has not looked at any solar, due 
to the fact that you must have a solar partner.  CHAIRMAN SHAW inquired about the roof screening and if solar became 
attractive in the future, would they consider it.  Mr. Diedrich replied there is room on the roof if that was a future 
consideration.   
 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  
                         September 6, 2018           

Page 7 of 13 

CHAIRMAN SHAW asked for comments from the public. 
 
Don McNealy, resident, inquired about the phase schedule.  In the event the housing market goes down, is there going to 
be anything in escrow to assure the parking lot in Phase 2 gets built?  Ms. Clarke replied that in the incentive agreement 
there is language obligating them to pave the surface parking lot per Village standards.  They will also have to provide the 
letter of credit for public improvements.  Mr. McNealy inquired about the 2 year grace period and will the site remain a 
construction site for 2 years or will it be cleaned up prior to them starting Phase 2.  Mr. Sosin replied there is no grace 
period.  It is 2 years and 2 years for 4 years from the time the permit is issued to finish the project with a letter of credit.  
In Phase 2 the land that he owns will be deeded to the Village.  Ms. Wallrich noted the incentive agreement is crafted so 
there is an incentive for them to move quickly.  Mr. McNealy noted the 50 square feet size Variation is a small area.  He 
also asked about outside dining for the retail restaurants.  Ms. Clarke noted part of the façade has been pushed inward to 
create alcoves allowing for public dining on the private property.  Mr. McNealy noted Tinley Park needs this project.  He 
also hopes this project will be built with union labor. 
 
Wilma Penny, resident, inquired about a traffic study being done and what does the Village intend to do about the 
congestion in this area. There are no bicycle lanes in Tinley. The bike lane on Oak Park Avenue it too small.  The 
Comprehensive Plan was done in 2000 and nothing has been done with it.  The proportions are off for the one bedroom 
apartment compared to the two bedroom apartments. Ms. Clarke replied in the past traffic studies were done, but nothing 
recent. The TIF district will hopefully give the money to improve this area.  Ms. Wallrich noted a meeting was held 
regarding adding a Bicycle Master Plan to the budget. The Legacy Plan is the basis of the Legacy Code; the Plan 
establishes the Vision for the Village and the Code is meant to enforce that. However, as with all newly written codes they 
have to be tested and if flaws are found the Code can be modified.  CHAIRMAN SHAW asked the developer if in Phase 
2, the experience in Phase 1 shows 2-bedroom units are more desirable than 1-bedroom units, would they consider 
changing the plan for more two bedroom units.  Mr. Diedrich replied that is likely what would happen.   
 
Peg Danowitz, resident, noted the first-floor of the project should be all commercial and the Village should stand firm on 
that for tax purposes.   A traffic study is needed now.  She asked how many parking spaces are available now.  Parking is 
an issue and where will guests and customers park.  She wants to keep the overnight parking restriction.  Can we require 
that the first-floor commercial be filled before they go on to Phase 2?  Ms. Wallrich noted the incentive agreement 
addresses this.  
 
Ron Centenny, resident, is concerned with the look of the building. He would like to see Old Tinley preserved.  The 
Heritage of Tinley Park should be promoted rather than a modern building design.  He belongs to a National Group for 
Historic Preservation and they have a Main street program that helps villages develop the downtown areas to make them 
look historic and encourage economic development.   
 
CHAIRMAN SHAW asked for a motion to close the Public Hearing. 
 
A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER AUGUSTYNIAK, seconded by COMMISSIONER STANTON to close the 
Public Hearing on the Boulevard at Central Station-6701-6755 South Street  The Motion was approved by voice call.  
CHAIRMAN SHAW declared the Motion approved.  
 
Ms. Clarke noted the Standards for Site Plan Approval as noted in the Staff Report. 
 

a. That the proposed Use is a Permitted Use in the district in which the property is located. 
A Mixed-Use Development is permitted in the DC (Downtown Core) Zoning District. The incorporation of residential 
amenities on the first floor requires a Special Use Permit to be granted. 
 

b. That the proposed arrangement of buildings, off-street parking, access, lighting, landscaping, and drainage is compatible 
with adjacent land uses.   
The property has been vacant for over ten (10) years with little redevelopment in the immediate area. This 
development will be the first of its scale in the Downtown. It will be the largest mixed-use building subject to the 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  
                         September 6, 2018           

Page 8 of 13 

Legacy Code. Although it is not compatible with the existing single-family homes that abut the property to the south, 
these properties will most likely redevelop over time. The project is consistent with the vision of the Legacy Plan and 
Transit Oriented Development (TOD) principals by providing residential density in close proximity to mass 
transportation. There will be public and private parking constructed as part of this development. The property access, 
lighting, landscaping will improve the area and are designed to meet the intent of the all Village codes.   
 

c. That the vehicular ingress and egress to and from the site and circulation within the site provides for safe, efficient, and 
convenient movement of traffic, not only within the site but on adjacent roadways as well. 
The proposed site layout provides access to South Street and 174th Street. All adjacent roadways will be reconstructed 
and provide for new sidewalks that currently do not exist today. There will be a public surface parking lot with 64 
parking stalls and a private parking garage with 181 parking stalls for the new residents occupying the apartments. 

 
d. That the Site Plan provides for the safe movement of pedestrians within the site.  

The plan provides seven-foot (7’) wide public sidewalks along South Street and 67th Court and six (6) foot sidewalks 
along 174th Street. Within the site, there center drive aisle with a five (5) foot sidewalk that provides access at the east 
end of the property. There are also sidewalks at the rear of the commercial areas in Phase 1 to accommodate 
pedestrian traffic from the parking area. 
 

e. That there is a sufficient mixture of grass, trees, and shrubs within the interior and perimeter (including public right-of-
way) of the site so that the proposed development will be in harmony with adjacent land uses and will provide a pleasing 
appearance to the public; any part of the Site Plan area not used for buildings, structures, parking, or access-ways shall 
be landscaped with a mixture of grass, trees, and shrubs. 
A Landscape Plan has been submitted that meets the Ordinance requirements. A Streetscape Master Plan has been 
commissioned by the Village and once approved will be incorporated into the Boulevards Landscape Plan. The plan 
provides for a significant amount of landscaping within the Streetscape of South Street, 174th Street and 67th Court. A 
14’ buffer yard is provided behind the parking garage in Phase 2 along with landscaping within the surface parking 
lot. The proposed landscaping will be an improvement to what is there now. 
 

f. That all outdoor trash storage areas are adequately screened. 
The outdoor trash is located in the interior of the buildings.  The trash is wholly enclosed in Phase 1 adjacent to the 
loading dock area. Staff has concerns regarding how the garbage will be removed from Phase 2 interior trash area. 
The Architect stated the garbage will be rolled out to the interior curb area just outside the entrance to the parking 
deck. There does not appear to be adequate room in this area that does not encumber traffic. Staff also questions the 
garbage pickup schedule and if several times a week may prove to be unsightly. 

 
Ms. Clarke noted the Legacy Code Standards as noted in the Staff Report. 
 

a. The proposed improvement meets the Legacy Plan and its Principles, as presented in Section 1.A-B: Purpose and 
Intent, of this ordinance; 
The Legacy Plan specifically calls for maximizing the number of people living within walking distance of the train 
station.  The project will have the potential to bring at a minimum 165 new residents to the downtown. The proposed 
29,853 square feet of new commercial storefronts and overall site design are in conformance with the goal of having 
a walkable downtown with a strong economic center. 

 
b. The new improvement is compatible with uses already developed or planned in this district and will not exercise undue 

detrimental influences upon surrounding properties; 
The mixed-use building is permitted and is compatible with the retail and service uses existing and expected in the 
downtown. 

 
c. Any improvement meets the architectural standards set forth in the Legacy Code. 

The two (2) buildings provides for a consistent style of architecture.  The first floor retail storefront provides for 
varying materials with the use canvas and metal awnings, gooseneck light fixtures, and recessed doorways. The 
upper floors utilize balconies and a mixture of brick and Hardie panel siding to create interest.   There is a rounded 
corner feature that creates a signature architectural feature at the prominent southeast corner of South Street and 
67th Court. There is an archway that will bridge Phase 1 and Phase 2 that provides for a unique access to the 
parking areas behind the building and provides a break in the long expanse of the building’s façade.  Along the 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  
                         September 6, 2018           

Page 9 of 13 

front façade there are enclaves for future outdoor dining opportunities that also help to provide some visual breaks 
in the façade; the Legacy Plan encourages this type of façade treatment as part of the Permitted Private Frontages 
for this District. Each of the residential units will have balconies; some are recessed into the unit while others extend 
out from the wall. The commercial units will have either a metal or red canvas awning projecting five (5) feet out.  
 

d. The improvement will have the effect of protecting and enhancing the economic development of the Legacy Plan area. 
The proposed improvements will provide new retail space that meets the needs of retailers. The Village will be able to 
attract commercial uses that will serve residents of the project, the community and beyond, thereby contributing to 
the economic health of the downtown area.  

Ms. Clarke then presented the Variation Standards: 
1. The property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only under the conditions allowed by 

the regulations in the district in which it is located. 

The Variation to reduce the square footage of a one-bedroom apartment is needed to compete with the existing 
market.  However, the property has built in additional residential amenities such as fitness gym, pool, bike storage, 
individual storage units on each floor and a club room with kitchen, that make up for the loss in square footage of the 
apartment size.  

2. The plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances. 

The building plan and concept are unique to the property. This project has evolved with substantial input from the 
Village Staff. These variances are necessary to comply with the Village’s requirement for indoor parking and to allow 
for a unique building with contrast which can be facilitated by the use of different materials.  

3. The Variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality. 

The project as a whole is being presented as one unified development. The developer is bringing forth a modern 
design that meets the intent of the Legacy Plan. The developer is working on a constrained site and trying to build a 
product that is comparable in size and price to existing mixed-used developments in the region. The project itself is 
going to transform the image of the downtown. This will be the first large-scale, mixed-use development that will be 
the catalyst for redevelopment in the downtown. 

 

Ms. Clarke noted additional Standards for Variations are listed in the Staff Report. She proceeded with outlining the 
Special Use standards referring to the Staff Report that provided a complete list as follows: 

a. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the Special Use will not be detrimental to or endanger the 
public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare; 

The incorporation of the residential amenities (fitness gym, club room with kitchen, conference room, and 
leasing office will not be detrimental to or endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare. 
The uses are incorporated with the overall design of the first floor lobby area and will built to meet all building 
codes. 

b. That the Special Use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate vicinity for 
the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within the neighborhood; 

The inclusion of residential uses on the first floor will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other 
properties in the immediate vicinity. There is a train station across the street and a mix of commercial and 
residential uses surrounding the property. 

c. That the establishment of the Special Use will not impede the normal and orderly development and improvement of 
surrounding property for uses permitted in the district; 

Having some residential amenities on the first floor will not impede the normal development of the downtown, 
however these uses will not provide the necessary sales tax the Community is hoping to achieve with 
redevelopment in the downtown. 

d. That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage, and/or other necessary facilities have been or are being provided; 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  
                         September 6, 2018           

Page 10 of 13 

As part of this development, the developer will be reconstructing all the adjacent roadways the site abuts.  The 
new regional pond, which was established out on the Panduit Site, is providing the necessary stormwater 
management that normally would have been required.  Volume control measures are being installed within the 
surface parking lot of Phase 1 to address any additional drainage issues. 

e. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to minimize traffic 
congestion in the public streets; and 

The residential amenities will only be accessed from the interior lobby area of Phase 1. Since these areas will 
only be utilized by the residents living in the apartments, there will not be any issues of increased traffic on the 
public streets to accommodate these uses. 

f. That the Special Use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in which it is 
located, except as such regulations may in each instance be modified by the Village Board pursuant to the 
recommendation of the Plan Commission.  The Village Board shall impose such conditions and restrictions upon the 
premises benefited by a Special Use Permit as may be necessary to ensure compliance with the above standards, to 
reduce or minimize the effect of such permit upon other properties in the neighborhood, and to better carry out the 
general intent of this Ordinance.  Failure to comply with such conditions or restrictions shall constitute a violation of 
this Ordinance. 

The DC (Downtown Core) District for this area requires first floor commercial retail.  The accessory residential 
uses are permitted with the granting of a Special Use Permit.  

g. The extent to which the Special Use contributes directly or indirectly to the economic development of the 
community as a whole. 

The DC (Downtown Core) District requires that commercial uses be on the first floor. This development will be 
reducing the available retail space on South Street by allowing residential amenities on the first floor in Phase 1. 
Staff is concerned that from the street view, these “store fronts’ will be vacant most of the time.  The residential 
amenities will not draw people to this area to shop. 

 

CHAIRMAN SHAW asked for a Motion.   

A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER GATTO, seconded by COMMISSIONER AUGUSTYNIAK to grant the 
Petitioner, David Sosin, on behalf of South Street Development, LLC, Site Plan Approval at the property located at 6701-
6755 W. South Street in accordance with the plans submitted and listed herein subject to the following conditions: 
 

1) A minimum of 1:1 parking will be provided on site throughout the construction process.  
2) The developer will obtain the necessary construction easements from the Village for the use of their property 

during construction. 
3) The eastern surface parking lot illustrated in Phase 1 will be constructed per Village’s standards in the event 

the developer does not commence construction of Phase 2. 
4) The final design of the dog run in Phase 2 will be reviewed by staff prior to construction. 
5) The final landscape plans will be subject to the final Streetscape Plans approved by the Village. 
6) If additional parking spaces are needed for the residential units, the residential tenants may lease spaces from 

the Village’s public surface parking lot. 
7) The final number of bike racks and locations will be subject to the final Streetscape Plan approved by the 

Village. 
8) The owner will be required to replace any red awning when it experiences greater than 40% color fade from 

the original CBG/Pantone color. 
9) Final approval of the photometric plan will include lighting in the surface parking lot in Phase 1.  
10) The perimeter landscaping around the Phase 2 gravel lot, must be installed in the event Phase 2 is not started 

within two (2) years of Phase 1 completion. 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  
                         September 6, 2018           

Page 11 of 13 

 
The Motion as amended by COMMISSIONER GATTO, seconded by COMMISSIONER AUGUSTYNIAK to include 
condition #11: 
 

#11) Any plan changes are completed as discussed in the Public Hearing. 
 

AYES:  STANTON, MANI, VICK, AUGUSTYNIAK, GATTO and CHAIRMAN SHAW 
 
NAYS:  NONE 
 
CHAIRMAN SHAW declared the Motion unanimously approved. 
 

 
A motion was made by COMMISSIONER STANTON, seconded by COMMISSIONER AUGUSTYNIAK to 
recommend that the Village Board grant a Special Use Permit to the Petitioner, David Sosin, on behalf of South Street 
Development, LLC, the following Special Use Permit at the property located at 6701-6755 W. South Street in accordance 
with the plans submitted and listed herein and adopt Findings of Fact submitted by the Applicant and as proposed by 
Village Staff, and as may be amended by the Plan Commission at this meeting. 

1. A Special Use Permit from Section XII.3. A. (Table 3.A.2) of the Legacy Code requires Accessory Residential 
Uses on the Street Level in a mixed-use building be granted a Special Use Permit.     
    
Subject to the following conditions:  

(a) The first floor amenities (fitness gym and clubroom) will be relocated to Phase 2.  
 
The Motion as amended by COMMISSIONER STANTON, seconded by COMMISSIONER VICK to include condition: 

(b) As discussed in the Public Hearing, the first floor amenities (fitness gym) will be relocated to Phase 2 
upon its completion. 

 
AYES:  STANTON, MANI, VICK, AUGUSTYNIAK, GATTO and CHAIRMAN SHAW 
 
NAYS:  NONE 
 
CHAIRMAN SHAW declared the Motion unanimously approved. 
 
 
A motion was made by COMMISSIONER AUGUSTYNIAK, seconded by COMMISSIONER GATTO to recommend 
that the Village Board grant the Petitioner, Petitioner, David Sosin, on behalf of South Street Development, LLC, the 
following Variations at the property located at 6701-6755 W. South Street in accordance with the plans submitted and 
listed herein and adopt Findings of Fact submitted by the Applicant and as proposed by Village Staff, and as may be 
amended by the Plan Commission at this meeting. 
 

1. A 70 square foot Variation from Section V.C.2 of the Zoning Code to allow a 745 square foot one-bedroom 
apartment where the minimum useable floor area for a one-bedroom apartment is 800 square feet.   

2. A residential parking Variation from Section XII.3.C.d. of the Legacy Code which requires parking for 
residential uses to not be open to the sky to allow for the development in Phase 1 to have an open to the 
sky parking lot for the residential uses.  

3. A four (4) foot wide Variation from Section XII.3.E.4.c of the Legacy Code to allow a 24-foot wide two- 
way driveway instead of the maximum 20 feet allowed for a two-lane driveway.  



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  
                         September 6, 2018           

Page 12 of 13 

4. An eight (8) foot wide Variation from Section XII.3.E.4.c of the Legacy Code to allow a 20-foot wide one-
lane driveway instead of the maximum 12 feet allowed for a one-lane driveway.  

5. A one (1) foot and a five (5) foot front yard Variations from Section XII.2.A.9 (Table 2.A.6) of the Legacy 
Code to allow a six (6) foot front yard setback on South Street and a ten (10) foot front yard setback on 67th 
Court where the maximum front yard setback is five (5) feet.  

6. A two (2) foot side yard Variation from Section XII.2.A.9 (Table 2.A.6) of the Legacy Code to allow a 
seven (7) foot interior side yard setback where the maximum interior side yard setback is five (5) feet.  

7. A 68 square foot Variation from Section XII.4.E (Table 4.E.1) of the Legacy Code to allow a one-hundred 
square foot projecting sign where the maximum sign permitted is 32 square feet. \ 

8. A Variation from Section XII.4.E (Table 4.E.1) of the Legacy Code to allow a projecting sign to extend 
past the 2nd floor.  

9. A 2 foot Variation from Section XII.3.C.4 to allow an 8.5’ X 16.5’ parking stall in the parking garage for 
compact cars stall instead of the required nine 9’x18’ with the condition that the parking stalls only can be 
reduced for any stalls above the 165 standard stalls required.  

10. A 9.3% material Variation from Section XII.3.B.7.a to reduce the percentage of primary materials on the 
external elevations to allow for 65% where 75% is required in order to accommodate the use of 
architectural precast/block on the first floor. 

11. A 9.3% material Variation from Section XII.3.B.7.a to allow up to 34.3% accent material where the 
maximum is 25%.   

 
AYES:  STANTON, MANI, VICK, AUGUSTYNIAK, GATTO and CHAIRMAN SHAW 
 
NAYS:  NONE 
 
CHAIRMAN SHAW declared the Motion unanimously approved. 
 
 
A motion was made by COMMISSIONER VICK, seconded by COMMISSIONER AUGUSTYNIAK to grant the 
Petitioner, David Sosin, on behalf of South Street Development, LLC, Final Plat Approval at the property located at 6701-
6755 W. South Street in accordance with the plat submitted and listed herein subject to the following conditions: 
 

1. Final Plat conditioned upon Final Engineering approval. 
 

AYES:  STANTON, MANI, VICK, AUGUSTYNIAK, GATTO and CHAIRMAN SHAW 
 
NAYS:  NONE 
 
CHAIRMAN SHAW declared the Motion unanimously approved. 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  
                         September 6, 2018           

Page 13 of 13 

GOOD OF THE ORDER: 
 
None at this time 
 
COMMENTS FROM THE COMMISSION 
 
None at this time. 

PUBLIC COMMENT: 

None at this time. 

ADJOURNMENT: 

There being no further business, a Motion was made by PLAN COMMISSIONER STANTON, seconded by PLAN 
COMMISSIONER AUGUSTYNIAK, to adjourn the Regular Meeting of the Plan Commission of September 6, 2018 at 
10:40 p.m. The Motion was unanimously approved by voice call.  PLAN COMMISSION CHAIRMAN SHAW declared 
the meeting adjourned. 



PLAN COMMISSION STAFF REPORT  
September 20, 2018 
 
 
Ferguson Enterprises  
7950 W. 185th Street, Suites A-C 
  

 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The Petitioner, Ferguson Enterprises, Inc. is seeking approval for Special Use Permit to 
operate a business involving a retail showroom and sales. The use is incidental, similar 
and compatible to the permitted principal use (warehousing, wholesale, and/or 
distribution) at 7950 185th Street, Suites A-C in the ORI PD (Office and Restricted Industrial, 
Hickory Creek Planned Unit Development) Zoning District. 
 
The proposed business would occupy 32,458 square feet of space in the industrial 
building. 10,494 square feet of the space will be utilized as a showroom for bath, kitchen, 
plumbing and lighting supplies and 3,148 square feet will be utilized as a sales and will call 
pickup counter for the company’s products. The rest of the space will be used as office 
and warehouse space.  
 
Wholesale and distribution uses are permitted in the ORI zoning district. However, the 
proposed on-site showroom and retail sales requires approval of a Special Use Permit. 
Retail uses open to the public are traditionally restricted in the ORI zoning district because 
the area is typically not designed for regular public use and has heavy truck traffic. The 
proposed showroom would not operate like a traditional retail use and would be very 
similar to many of the industrial operations that take place within the Hickory Creek 
Planned Unit Development. The showroom and sales components of the business will be 
primarily used by contractors, designers, and other professionals, but the space will be 
open to the public. 

 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
Petitioner 
Ferguson Enterprises, 
Inc. 
 
Property Location 
7950 W. 185th Street, 
Suites A-C 
 
PIN 
19-09-01-101-009-0000 
 
Zoning 
ORI PD (Office and 
Restricted Industrial, 
Hickory Creek PUD) 
 
Approvals Sought 
Special Use Permit 
 
 
 
 
 
Project Planner 
Daniel Ritter, AICP 
Senior Planner 
 



Ferguson Enterprises – 7950 185th Street 
 

Page 2 of 7 

EXISTING SITE & HISTORY 
 
The property consists of a single parcel of five (5) acres in 
area with an 81,200 square foot light industrial building 
that was constructed in 2002 to function as a distribution 
facility. The building space was originally divided into six (6) 
tenant spaces but is currently only four (4) spaces with 
three (3) of the tenant spaces (units A, B, and C) being 
combined into a single space for use by the Petitioner. The 
tenants who are leasing the south end of the building are 
Rodgers Supply Company (HVAC and electrical), Lansing 
Building Products (exterior building products) and Trane 
Supply (HVAC materials and equipment). 
 
The site has frontage on 185th Street and 80th Avenue. The 
primary entrances and exits are off 185th Street with a 
partial access on 80th avenue through a shared drive aisle 
located on the parcel to the north.  The site contains 
approximately 156 parking spaces and multiple loading 
areas at the rear (east) side of the building. 
 
 
 
 
 
ZONING & NEARBY LAND USES 
 
The zoning of the site at 7950 185th Street is 
indicated with a yellow star on the map to 
the right and is ORI PD (Office and Restricted 
Industrial, Hickory Creek Planned Unit 
Development). The Zoning Ordinance states 
that the ORI Zoning District is “intended to 
provide land for medium to large office 
buildings, research activities, and non-
objectionable industrial activities which are 
attractively landscaped and designed to 
create a “park-like” setting. The low intensity 
and limiting restrictions are intended to 
provide for permitted uses which will be 
compatible with adjacent residential and 
commercial developments.” 
 
Nearby land uses include other properties 
zoned ORI, some of which are also within the 
same Planned Unit Development. The businesses park’s stormwater retention facilities and a creek are located 
directly to the east of this site. To the west is Speedway gas station zoned M1 PD (Tinley Crossings Corporate Center 
PUD). To the south is unincorporated agricultural land with a residential home on it that will likely develop similar to 
the surrounding ORI zoning once annexed into the Village. A nearby business at 18475 Thompson Court (Hilti North 
America) received a similar special use approval in 2016 for accessory retail sales and is indicated with a green 
triangle on the image to the above.  

 

 

M-1 
ORI 

R-3 

Will Co. 

Will Co. 



Ferguson Enterprises – 7950 185th Street 
 

Page 3 of 7 

PROPOSED USE 
 
The Applicant proposes to open a business that conducts retail and wholesale sale, demonstration, service, 
warehousing, and distribution of lighting, plumbing and other items used in kitchen and bathrooms. The hours of 
operation for the retail sale and showroom component are proposed to be 8am – 6pm, Monday through Friday. 
 
The principal use is considered “warehousing, wholesale establishments and distribution facilities”, which is a 
permitted use within the Hickory Creek Planned Unit Development (Ordinance 2006-O-028). The proposed Ferguson 
Enterprises use conforms to the uses outlined in the Zoning and PUD ordinances. Due to the retail component of 
the business, the Village’s Zoning Ordinance requires that the Applicant obtain a Special Use Permit. According to 
Section V.B. Schedule I (Schedule of Permitted Uses by District), “retail and wholesale, incidental to a principal use in 
the ORI Zoning District” requires a Special Use Permit. The retail sales and showroom are typically utilized by 
contractors or other design professionals who are going to the site as a destination. However, the showroom and 
sales are also expected to be open to the public. 
 
The primary entrance to the business will be on the northwest corner of the building, located as far away from the 
existing businesses as possible. The building is located on the far west side of the Hickory Creek industrial park and 
is located off 80th Avenue, which has more of a commercial and office feel than industrial. The building is currently 
divided among four (4) users: Rodgers Supply Company (HVAC and electrical), Lansing Building Products (exterior 
building products), Trane Supply (HVAC materials and equipment) and the Petitioner’s proposed Ferguson 
Enterprises space. All of these uses have similar wholesale and distribution services but only Ferguson Enterprises 
would have a showroom or onsite retail component. Most of the truck traffic to the existing businesses access the 
rear of the site where there are truck docks and parking spaces utilized by employees. Visitors to the proposed 
Ferguson Enterprises showroom and other businesses typically utilize the front parking area on the northwest 
corner of the site near the business’s entrance. There will be limited interaction between customers and site traffic 
on site because of the access off of 80th Avenue and separate entrances off of 185th Street. No changes to the site 
plan or building architecture are proposed with this use change. 
 
PARKING 
 
The site has a total of approximately 156 parking spaces. Of those, 101 parking spaces including required ADA 
parking, are located in the front of the building. There are 55 additional spaces located in the rear of the building 
and primarily utilized by employees. 
 
The Petitioner has noted that they would have up to four (4) showroom employees, two (2) counter associates, two 
(2) warehouse associates, two (2) drivers and 12 office associates for a total of 22 employees on the site. 
Additionally, it is expected that up to eight (8) customers may be on the site at any given time to view, purchase, or 
pick up products. Total expected parking demand is 30 parking spaces. According to the Zoning Ordinance parking 
requirements, the proposed use could be considered a warehouse/distribution facility and a retail use. The code 
requires one (1) parking space for every two (2) employees for the warehouse/distribution use and the code does 
not have a parking calculation similar to the proposed showroom use. The closest use is likely to be an “Appliance or 
Furniture Store” which requires one (1) parking space for every 600 square feet of floor space. The total required 
parking spaces based upon these Zoning Code calculations would be 29. 
 
Parking is expected to be sufficient because Ferguson Enterprises will occupy slightly less than half of the overall 
building space but will not utilize near half of the parking spaces (29-30 spaces required, 156 total on-site spaces). 
Additionally, the majority of the front parking that will be used by the business’s customers are located far from any 
of the existing businesses, who primarily utilize the rear parking for their employee and business needs. Staff did 
not notice any parking issues or concerns during site visits. 
 
 



Ferguson Enterprises – 7950 185th Street 
 

Page 4 of 7 

LANDSCAPE 
 
The site appears to have landscaping that meets the intent of the Village’s Landscape Ordinance. Staff will work with 
the property owner to ensure that any deficiencies or dead plant material is addressed as a part of the Change of 
Use process. The site must also comply with general property maintenance standards. 
 
SIGNAGE 
 
Although a formal sign plan has not yet been submitted for permit, it is expected that the Zoning Code allowances 
for wall signs on industrial properties will be sufficient. All other tenants on the subject property have complied with 
these requirements. Per Section IX.H.1. of the Zoning Ordinance, one (1) wall sign is permitted per tenant frontage 
in the ORI and M-1 Districts and the allowable wall sign face area permitted is one (1) square foot for every two (2) 
lineal foot of site frontage; however, in no case shall a sign exceed 120 square feet.  
 
SUMMARY OF OPEN ITEMS 
 
Staff has not identified any open items for additional discussion. 
  



Ferguson Enterprises – 7950 185th Street 
 

Page 5 of 7 

STANDARDS FOR A SPECIAL USE 
 
Section X.J.5. of the Zoning Ordinance lists standards that need to be considered by the Plan Commission. The Plan 
Commission is encouraged to consider these standards (listed below) when analyzing a Special Use request. 
Attached please find the standards provided by the Petitioner in defense of the requested Special Use. Staff has 
supplied Findings of Fact for each standard below. The Plan Commission is encouraged to alter or incorporate 
additional Findings of Fact at the Public Hearing that they feel necessary. 

 
X.J.5. Standards: No Special Use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission unless said Commission shall find: 
 

a. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the Special Use will not be detrimental to or 
endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare; 

• The Special Use will not be detrimental to or endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or 
general welfare because it is generally compatible with other uses in the same building and within the 
surrounding area. Other uses in the Hickory Creek Planned Unit Development include several 
warehouse-type businesses.  

 
b. That the Special Use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate 

vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within 
the neighborhood; 

• The Special Use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate 
vicinity because the use is compatible with the other business uses nearby. All business will be 
conducted within the building. The Special Use will not substantially diminish or impair property 
values because it will occupy a tenant space that has been vacant and the tenant will abide by Village 
ordinances and applicable codes. 

 
c. That the establishment of the Special Use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 

improvement of surrounding property for uses permitted in the district; 
• The Special Use will not impede the normal and orderly development and improvement of 

surrounding property because the immediately surrounding area is already improved and the 
proposed use will be conducted wholly within the tenant space leased to the Petitioner. The building 
already exists and the Petitioner will only be making modifications to the interior of the tenant space. 
The only exterior modification would be signage that is compliant with the Zoning Code allowances. 

 
d. That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage, and/or other necessary facilities have been or are being 

provided; 
• Adequate utilities, access roads, drainage, etc. have been provided for the site when it was constructed 

in 2002. There have been no known issues and no changes are proposed to the existing utilities, roads, 
drainage, or other infrastructure at or near the site. The customer base is typically destination-driven 
and will likely be construction and design professionals. 

 
e. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 

minimize traffic congestion in the public streets; and 
• Adequate measures have been taken to provide ingress and egress to minimize traffic congestion in 

the public streets by providing adequate parking at the site. The site has 156 parking stalls that are 
shared between the four (4) tenant spaces, which meet the intent of the Village’s standards for off-
street parking. The tenant will use less than their applicable share of parking stalls on the site and 
there are no known issues with parking or traffic in the area. 

 
f. That the Special Use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in 

which it is located, except as such regulations may in each instance be modified by the Village Board 



Ferguson Enterprises – 7950 185th Street 
 

Page 6 of 7 

pursuant to the recommendation of the Plan Commission.  The Village Board shall impose such 
conditions and restrictions upon the premises benefited by a Special Use Permit as may be necessary to 
ensure compliance with the above standards, to reduce or minimize the effect of such permit upon 
other properties in the neighborhood, and to better carry out the general intent of this Ordinance.  
Failure to comply with such conditions or restrictions shall constitute a violation of this Ordinance. 

• The Petitioner has indicated that they will meet all other Village ordinances and codes. 
 

g. The extent to which the Special Use contributes directly or indirectly to the economic development of 
the community as a whole. 

• The Special Use will contribute to economic development within the Village because it will occupy a 
vacant tenant space and provide goods and services that complement the surrounding area’s 
businesses and increase area employment. 

 
It is also important to recognize that a Special Use Permit does not run with the land and instead the Special Use 
Permit is tied to the Petitioner. This is different from a process such as a variance, since a variance will forever apply 
to the property to which it is granted. Staff encourages the Plan Commission to refer to Section X.J.6. to examine the 
conditions where a Special Use Permit will expire. 
 
  



Ferguson Enterprises – 7950 185th Street 
 

Page 7 of 7 

MOTION TO CONSIDER 
 
If the Plan Commission wishes to take action, an appropriate wording of the motions would read:  
 
“… make a motion to recommend that the Village Board grant the Petitioner, Ferguson Enterprises, Inc., a Special 
Use Permit to operate a business involving retail and wholesale, incidental, similar and compatible to a permitted 
principal use (warehousing, wholesale, and/or distribution) at 7950 185th Street, Suite A-C in the ORI PD (Office and 
Restricted Industrial, Hickory Creek Planned Unit Development) Zoning District and adopt the Findings of Fact 
proposed by Village Staff and the Plan Commission at this meeting.” 
 

…with the following conditions: [any conditions that the Commissioners would like to add] 

























PLAN COMMISSION STAFF REPORT  
SEPTEMBER 20, 2018 
 
Veterinary Clinic of Tinley Park 
17745-17749 Oak Park Avenue 

 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
The Petitioner, Dr. Cynthia M. Cecott, is requesting Site Plan approval and Variations from 
the Legacy Code. The Variations will permit the petitioner to complete site improvements 
that  exceed the maximum 50% property value threshold for the property to remain 
classified as a Heritage Site and a Variation of 19 parking spaces from the 27 required 
parking spaces . These Variations will allow the petitioner to modify the existing façade, 
remodel the interior space to expand the Veterinary Clinic, add an additional 2,565 square 
feet within the existing footprint of the building, install signage and lighting and make the 
necessary landscape improvements consistent with Code requirements. The costs of the 
Voluntary improvements exceeds the 50% property value threshold for Heritage Sites 
located at 17745-17749 Oak Park Avenue in the Neighborhood General (NG) Zoning 
District. 
 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
Petitioner 
Dr. Cynthia M. Cecott 
 
Property Location 
17745-17749 Oak Park 
Avenue 
 
PIN 
28-31-208-007-0000 
28-31-208-006-0000 
 
Zoning 
Neighborhood General 
(NG) 
 
Approvals Sought 
Site Plan 
Variations 
 
 
 
 
 
Project Planner 
Kimberly Clarke 
Planning Manager 
 

 



Veterinary Clinic of Tinley Park – 17745-17749 Oak Park Avenue 
 

Page 2 of 11 

EXISTING SITE & HISTORY 
 
The subject site consists of two (2) parcels 15,827 square foot in total area 
with a 6,720 square foot single-story building constructed sometime 
before 1970 that is currently divided into three (3) tenant spaces.  The only 
tenant currently is the Veterinary Clinic which is looking to expand into the 
second unit and rent out the third unit to another commercial tenant.  It 
does not appear the exterior of the building has been modified since its 
original construction.    
 
The site is located at the northeast corner of Oak Park Avenue and 178th 
Street. There is a small parking area at the north side of the property and 
on-street parking on the south side of the building. In 2008, the Village and 
the then owner entered into a Parking Use and Maintenance Agreement 
to allow the continued use of the parking on the west and south side of 
the property that encroached on the Village’s R.O.W. The agreement 
allowed the owner of the property and its tenants the non-exclusive use 
of the parking. The owner was responsible for maintaining these parking 
stalls free of litter, snow, and debris. In 2015, the parking stalls in the front 
of the building along Oak Park Avenue were removed and replaced with 
the landscaping that exists today (See Google Earth images below). A 
change of use triggered the site to meet the intent of the Village’s 
Landscape and Zoning ordinances but by doing that, it reduced the off-
street parking for the property by approximately seven (7) stalls. The intent 
of removing front yard parking is to increase pedestrian and vehicle safety 
by limiting vehicles that back out directly onto a sidewalk and public street. 
It should be noted the front parking stalls were partially on the Villages R.O.W. and the parking stalls along 178th Street 
are entirely on R.O.W. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Source: Google Earth 4.30.15  

 
Source: Google Earth 4.2.13 
 

 
   Source: CMAP 1970 Aerial Photo 



Veterinary Clinic of Tinley Park – 17745-17749 Oak Park Avenue 
 

Page 3 of 11 

ZONING & NEARBY LAND USES 
 
The subject property (see the yellow star on the graphic below) is zoned Neighborhood General (NG) and is within the 
Legacy District. According to Section XII.2.D.1. of the Village of Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance, the NG Zoning District is  
characterized by a variety of lot sizes and building scales, with multi-family dwellings as the primary use and is 
“intended to help transition existing single-family houses and commercial uses into multi-family uses.”  This property is 
classified as a Heritage Site since its commercial use existed lawfully prior to the adoption of the Legacy Code. It will 
remain classified as a Heritage Site as long as any voluntary, private-owner initiated modification to the property does 
not exceed 50% of the property’s market value. If the proposed improvements exceed the 50% threshold the property 
will be considered a Redevelopment Site and due to the regulations of the NG District, it can no longer operate as a 
stand-alone commercial structure. 
 
Nearby land uses include single-family residential and commercial properties to the north and east (zoned R-3 in 
yellow and NG in purple), a vacant lot to the south (zoned NG in purple), single-family attached and commercial 
properties to the west (zoned R-6 in brown and NG in purple). The vacant lot to the south was previously a commercial 
building that was an Italian restaurant from 1994 to 2008 and in 2011 changed ownership and became a different 
restaurant called Carms Beef. The property was issued a demolition permit in 2017 and has remained vacant. There 
were two structures on the parcel immediately to the north, which was once occupied by a Plumbing Supply Company. 
This property was purchased by the owners of Bailey’s Restaurant and Bar in 2012 and shortly thereafter razed the 
structures, consolidated the lots and constructed the parking lot that exists today. 
 
The 178th Street right-of-way (ROW), located on the south side of the subject property is only improved to the 
eastern edge of the property. Despite the dedication of 178th Street from the eastern edge of the subject property 
east to 66th Court, there are no plans for its improvement or connection. 
 

 

 



Veterinary Clinic of Tinley Park – 17745-17749 Oak Park Avenue 
 

Page 4 of 11 

 
PROPOSED USE 
 
Early this year, the business owner of the Veterinary Clinic, Dr. Cynthia M. Cecott, purchased the building she has been 
leasing since June of 2009. A condition of the financing for the purchase of the building requires the Veterinary Clinic 
to occupy 50% of the building to satisfy their small business loan; therefore the Vet Clinic will be expanded their 
business into the adjacent tenant space and occupy approximately 66% of the building.  
 
The Petitioner has been operating their Veterinarian Clinic at 17745 Oak Park Avenue for the past nine (9) years. They 
are a full-service veterinary medical facility providing services such as dental care, vaccinations, wellness exams, 
surgery, radiology, ultrasounds, pain management, puppy and kitten care and microchipping.  The owner wishes to 
expand their existing Veterinarian clinic an additional 2,072 square feet into the adjacent vacant unit. The proposed 
expansion of space will provide for more exam rooms, increased storage, an improved surgery room and a larger 
lobby area. Currently, there is a total of four (4) employees employed at the clinic comprised of one (1) doctor, two (2) 
veterinary technicians and one (1) receptionist. With the expansion, the total number of employees is expected to 
increase up to eight (8) employees.  Their proposed hours of operations are as follows: 
 
Hours of Operation are: 

• Monday-Friday: 8:00am to 6:00pm 
• Sat: 8:00am-12:00pm 
• Sunday: Closed 

HERITAGE SITES AND NEED FOR A VARIATION 
 
The property is classified as a Heritage Site and is subject to the general standards listed in Table 2.D.7 within Section 
XII.2.D. As defined, “Heritage Sites are those lots with structures or uses that lawfully existed prior to the adoption of 
the Legacy Code. Heritage Sites are generally classified as such until they incur voluntary, private-owner initiated site 
improvements that exceed 50% of the property’s market value, at which time they shall be reclassified as 
redevelopment sites and subject to the pertinent provisions within its district. Absent such voluntary, private-owner 
initiated site improvements, Heritage Sites may retain their Heritage Site status in perpetuity, and can change owner 
and/or use, be maintained and repaired as part of normal upkeep, undergo site improvements that do not exceed 
50% of the property’s market value, and be rebuilt following an Act of God, all without altering this status”. 
 
The expansion of the Veterinarian Clinic and the proposed exterior façade improvements are voluntary, private 
owner initiated site improvements that will exceed 50% of the property’s market value.  The Petitioner is seeking a 
Variation to exceed the 50% threshold based upon their current plans. When the Petitioner purchased the property, 
it was their desire to expand their current space to meet the needs of their client demand and to provide for better 
animal care. In addition, they wished to improve the curb appeal by painting the façade and screen the rooftop air 
units from Oak Park Avenue.  The Variation process provides the Plan Commission the opportunity to place certain 
conditions on the Variation to mitigate any concerns with these proposed improvements. 
 
SITE PLAN 
 
The proposed Site Plan as shown on Sheet A-0.1. proposes few modifications to the site, other than those required 
per Section XII.2.D.11.d. of the Zoning Ordinance.  A change of owner triggers certain required improvements as listed 
in the image of Table 2.D.8. below. 



Veterinary Clinic of Tinley Park – 17745-17749 Oak Park Avenue 
 

Page 5 of 11 

 
 

Staff inspected the site and noted areas where the required improvements can be made. Per the chart above, the 
change of ownership requires an alley dedication at the rear of the building.  Currently, both the subject site and the 
immediate property to the north have their dumpsters located in the area where the future alley will be constructed. 
The purpose of the alley system is to provide rear access to the entire block and reduce the number of curb cuts on 
Oak Park Avenue which increases the walkability and safety of the area. As with other redevelopment projects in the 
Legacy District, the Village has required a 25’ alley easement in lieu of the dedication until such time the alley is fully 
dedicated or improved.   
 
Open Item #1: Staff recommends a condition of the Site Plan Approval and Variations require the granting of a 25’ 
alley easement in the rear of the property. 
 

LANDSCAPE 
 
The property is void of any significant landscaping with the exception of two (2) planter 
beds located at the northwest and southwest corners of the property. The front yard 
landscape includes asphalt walkways connecting the public sidewalk with tenant 
entryways. The new landscape plan proposes the removal of the two (2) asphalt paths 
and replace it with a lawn area and install three (3) new shade trees.  (The Landscape 
Plan does not specify tree species and therefore is considered incomplete). The 
concrete parking wheel stops that line the north side of the building will be removed 
and replaced with new planter boxes under the windows. The Plan does not provide for 
parkway trees which are required to be placed no greater than 25’ apart. 
 
Open Item #2: Revise Landscape Plan to include tree species and installation 
specifications which includes parkway trees along Oak Park Avenue. 
 
 
 
ARCHITECTURE 
 
The exterior façade needs maintenance on the existing fascia.  The owner plans to replace the existing fascia with a 
new metal gray fascia and construct a new ribbed metal parapet to screen rooftop HVAC units that are highly visible 
from Oak Park Avenue. Lastly, the entire building’s existing brick façade will be painted gray. These façade 
improvements are minor but will give the building some additional dimension and curb appeal. 
 
 
 
SIGNAGE 
 



Veterinary Clinic of Tinley Park – 17745-17749 Oak Park Avenue 
 

Page 6 of 11 

The Petitioner is proposing a new wall sign for the Veterinary Clinic 
along the top of the new metal fascia on the front of the building. A 
secondary sign is proposed on the front wall of the building which is a 
silhouette of a dog and cat. It is unclear if the signage on the fascia is 
illuminated and if the silhouette of the dog and cat is a painted image. 
The Legacy Code allows a wall sign to be 1 square feet in sign area for 
each lineal foot of primary or entry side building width.  The Veterinary 
Clinic’s frontage is approximately 160 lineal feet.  Signs may be backlit, 
or illuminated by spotlights. The Commission may wish to discuss the 
opportunity for a projecting or blade sign that might be illustrative of 
the veterinary use of the building, such as a sign in the shape of a dog. 
If the silhouette is painted on the brick wall it is considered a mural; 
mural signs are prohibited in the Legacy District. 
 
Open Item #3: Discuss appropriateness of proposed signs. 
 
PARKING 
 
Per Section XII.2.D.10.c., the site is required to have 27 parking stalls (4 spaces per 1,000 s.f.).  The site has eight (8) 
angled parking stalls on the north side of the building and ten (10) on-street parking stalls just south of the building 
along 178th Street.  The on-street parking on the south side of the building includes one (1) ADA stall closest to the 
front of the building. The on-site parking area will need to comply with ADA requirements and provide one (1) ADA 
stall. The parking south of the building is entirely on the Village’s R.O.W. and cannot be included in the parking 
calculations for the site. As mentioned earlier, the previous owner was required to enter into a Parking Use and 
Maintenance Agreement to be permitted to utilize the parking stalls that encroached on the Village’s R.O.W. Staff is 
working with the Village Attorney to determine if a new agreement will be required with the new owner.  
 
Open Item #4: The on-site parking lot must be ADA compliant. 
Open Item #5: Investigate the need for a Parking Use and Maintenance Agreement  
 
The property owner is required to install a bike rack that allows parking for one (1) bike per Section X11.2.D.10.c. of 
the Zoning Ordinance.  
 
Open Item #6: Staff recommends a condition of the Site Plan approval require the installation of a bike rack to 
provide parking for at least one (1) bike. 
 
LIGHTING 
 
The existing light fixtures on the building are older and do not comply 
with current Village’s standards for glare (see image to the right). Staff 
recommends that all the wall mounted light fixtures be replaced with 
lights that conform to the Legacy Code. The architect has agreed to make 
revisions to the elevations that propose new light fixtures.  
 
Open Item #7: Staff recommends a condition of the Site Plan approval 
require all nonconforming exterior light fixtures be replaced with 
lights that conform to the Villages regulations for glare. 
 
VARIATION 
 

 

 



Veterinary Clinic of Tinley Park – 17745-17749 Oak Park Avenue 
 

Page 7 of 11 

1. A Variation from Section XII.2.D.10.b to allow the Heritage Site Standards to exceed 50% of the 
property’s market value in site improvements.  The subject property and its current use as a Veterinarian 
Clinic is a conforming use as a Heritage Site; however, the proposed improvements will exceed the 50% 
threshold as a Heritage Site thereby prohibiting the property to continue its use as a stand-alone commercial 
property. In order for the Petitioner to continue its use as a stand-alone commercial use, a Variation is 
required.    
 
This will be the first Variation request from the 50% threshold for a Heritage Site. As such, staff created some 
standards to consider for this particular type of Variation. When reviewing this request Staff took into 
consideration the following:  
 

• The condition of the existing building:  The building is in sound condition with the exception of some 
maintenance issues related to the fascia.   

• The ownership of the property (owner-occupied): The new property owner will continue to operate 
their business in this location. 

• The longevity of the existing non-conforming use:  The property owner has occupied the building for 
nine (9) years. 

• The ability for the property to be converted to function as mixed-use:  Discussions with the Architect 
suggests that a second-story to accommodate residential uses is cost prohibitive. It is also 
questionable if living above a Veterinarian Clinic would be desirable due to the potential for noise from 
the animals.   

• The impact of the continuation of the non-conforming use on the redevelopment potential of the area: 
The property is located at the end of the block and if it were to remain as a commercial property it 
would not interfere with the rest of the block’s ability to redevelop following the code requirements. It 
is also important to note that the property directly to the north is a viable business that in 2012 
purchased additional property to expand their parking lot. It is likely this property will remain a 
commercial use for a long time. The residential properties to the east of this property are screened 
from the property by a privacy fence. The townhomes to the west across Oak Park Avenue are 
screened from this property with the landscaping that was installed when the subdivision was created.  
The proposed landscaping improvements and rooftop screening will further reduce any impacts of 
this commercial property from adjacent residential homes.  

 
Based on the above factors, Staff supports a Variation of the 50% threshold for Heritage Sites and allow the 
property to continue to operate under the Heritage Site status.  

 
Open Item #8:  Consider granting a Variation to exceed the 50% site improvements on a Heritage Site in the NG 
(Neighborhood General) Zoning District.  
 

2. A nineteen (19) parking stall Variation from Section XII.2.D.10.c. (Table 2.D.7) to reduce the required 
number of street-level commercial parking to eight (8) parking stalls where the required number is 
twenty-seven (27) parking stalls.  Although the site is unable to provide adequate parking per Code there 
are 10 on-street parking spaces that can be dedicated to this use through a Parking Use and Maintenance 
Agreement.  This will reduce the deficiency to nine (9) parking spaces. It is unknown if or when 178th Street 
will be continued easterly, and until then it remains a dead end street. Allowing on-street parking on this 
portion of 178th Street will not increase the traffic or congestion on the roads and will help to provide the 
necessary parking for the property. It should be noted that the existing parking condition will limit the type of 
business that may lease the vacant unit.   

 
Open Item #9: Considering granting a Variation to reduce the required number of parking stalls.  
SUMMARY OF OPEN ITEMS 
 



Veterinary Clinic of Tinley Park – 17745-17749 Oak Park Avenue 
 

Page 8 of 11 

Staff identified the following open items for discussion at the workshop: 
 

1. Staff recommends a condition of the Site Plan Approval and Variations require a 25’ alley easement in the rear of 
the property. 

2. Consider placing parkway trees along Oak Park Avenue. 
3. Provide staff with more details of the proposed signs. 
4. The on-site parking lot must be ADA compliant. 
5. Investigate the need for a Parking Use and Maintenance Agreement with the new owner to maintain parking stalls 

on 178th Street.  
6. Require the installation of a bike rack to provide parking for at least one (1) bike. 
7. Condition the Site Plan approval on requiring all nonconforming exterior light fixtures be replaced with lights that 

conform to the Villages regulations for glare. 
8. Consider granting a Variation to exceed the 50% threshold for cost of site improvements on a Heritage Site in the 

Neighborhood General (NG) Zoning District. 
9. Considering granting a Variation to reduce the required number of parking stalls. 

 
RECOMMENDATION  
 
Following a successful workshop, proceed to a Public Hearing at the October 04, 2018 Plan Commission meeting. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
STANDARDS FOR SITE PLAN APPROVAL 
 



Veterinary Clinic of Tinley Park – 17745-17749 Oak Park Avenue 
 

Page 9 of 11 

Section III.T.2. of the Zoning Ordinance requires that Planning Staff must find that the conditions listed below must be 
met. Staff will prepare draft responses for these conditions within the next Staff Report. 
 

a. That the proposed Use is a Permitted Use in the district in which the property is located. 
 

b. That the proposed arrangement of buildings, off-street parking, access, lighting, landscaping, and 
drainage is compatible with adjacent land uses.   

 
c. That the vehicular ingress and egress to and from the site and circulation within the site provides for safe, 

efficient, and convenient movement of traffic, not only within the site but on adjacent roadways as well. 
 

d. That the Site Plan provides for the safe movement of pedestrians within the site.  
 

e. That there is a sufficient mixture of grass, trees, and shrubs within the interior and perimeter (including 
public right-of-way) of the site so that the proposed development will be in harmony with adjacent land 
uses and will provide a pleasing appearance to the public; any part of the Site Plan area not used for 
buildings, structures, parking, or access-ways shall be landscaped with a mixture of grass, trees, and 
shrubs. 

 
f. That all outdoor trash storage areas are adequately screened. 

 
 
 
STANDARDS FOR A VARIATION 
 
Section X.G.4. of the Zoning Ordinance states the Plan Commission shall not recommend a Variation of the regulations 
of the Zoning Ordinance unless it shall have made Findings of Fact, based upon the evidence presented for each of 
the Standards for Variations listed below. The Plan Commission must provide findings for the first three standards; 
the remaining standards are provided to help the Plan Commission further analyze the request. Staff will prepare 
draft responses for the Findings of Fact within the next Staff Report.  
 

1. The property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only under the 
conditions allowed by the regulations in the district in which it is located. 
 

2. The plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances. 
 

3. The Variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality. 
 

4. Additionally, the Plan Commission shall also, in making its determination whether there are practical 
difficulties or particular hardships, take into consideration the extent to which the following facts favorable 
to the Petitioner have been established by the evidence: 
 

a. The particular physical surroundings, shape, or topographical condition of the specific property 
involved would result in a particular hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from a mere 
inconvenience, if the strict letter of the regulations were carried out; 
 

b. The conditions upon which the petition for a Variation is based would not be applicable, generally, 
to other property within the same zoning classification; 
 

c. The purpose of the Variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more money out of 
the property; 



Veterinary Clinic of Tinley Park – 17745-17749 Oak Park Avenue 
 

Page 10 of 11 

 
d. The alleged difficulty or hardship has not been created by the owner of the property, or by a 

previous owner; 
 

e. The granting of the Variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or injurious to other 
property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is located; and 
 

f. The proposed Variation will not impair an adequate supply of light and air to an adjacent property, 
or substantially increase the congestion in the public streets, or increase the danger of fire, or 
endanger the public safety, or substantially diminish or impair property values within the 
neighborhood. 

 
Additional Standards Specific to a Parking Variance: The number of off-street automobile and/or bicycle parking 
spaces required in all districts may be reduced by a variance reviewed by the Plan Commission and approved by the 
Village Board following the variance standards in Section 3.C and when all of the following standards are met: 
 

a. The development does not have the benefit of shared or collective parking; 
 

b. The applicant proves that adequate parking exists for such use, based on the unique number, 
type and use characteristics (i.e., peak hour or day) of those businesses or residences that 
currently use such a lot;  

c. A municipal or commuter parking lot exists within 300 feet of the development that has 
adequate parking to accommodate all or a portion of the number of required spaces for the 
use; 
 

d. The owner of the building makes a payment equal to $1,000 per required automobile and 
bicycle parking space that cannot be provided on the subject lot. The fees collected for the 
payment in lieu of parking will be used only for the acquisition of land or construction of 
municipally owned or leased off street parking facilities for automobiles or bicycles; landscape 
or streetscape; bike trails, lanes, or paths; or maintenance or illumination of off-street parking 
facilities.  

  



Veterinary Clinic of Tinley Park – 17745-17749 Oak Park Avenue 
 

Page 11 of 11 

LIST OF REVIEWED PLANS 
 
 

Submitted Sheet Name 
Prepared 

By 
Date On 

Sheet 
A0.1 Preliminary Site Plan LG 7-17-18 
A4.0 Preliminary Elevations LG 7-17-18 
A1.0 Preliminary Floor Plan LG  
 Plat of Survey  9-15-01 
    
 LG = Linden Group   

 















EXISTING SITE PLAN

SCALE: 1:10

0 5' 10' 20'

EXISTING 1 - STORY BUILDING

+6,720 GROSS SQ.FT.

17 STANDARD PARKING SPACES

1 H.C. PARKING SPACE

P:
\2

01
8\

20
18

-0
04

4\
Dr

aw
ing

 Fi
les

\P
re

lim
ina

ry\
20

18
-0

04
4_

As
_B

uil
t_S

ite
.d

wg
  5

/2
2/

20
18

 2:
41

 P
M

  A
-0

.1

WWW.LINDENGROUPINC.COM
(708) 799-4400

ORLAND PARK, ILLINOIS     60467
10100 ORLAND PARKWAY  SUITE 110

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE
INTERIOR ARCHITECTURE

LAND PLANNING
ARCHITECTURE

AUTHORIZATION OF LINDEN GROUP INC.
ANY PERSONS FOR ANY PURPOSE WITHOUT THE EXPRESS WRITTEN 
LINDEN GROUP INC.  NONE OF THE ABOVE MAY BE DISCLOSED TO 
ARE INSTRUMENTS OF SERVICE, AND THEREFORE ARE THE PROPERTY OF 
AND DESIGNS REPRESENTED OR REFERRED TO IN THESE DOCUMENTS 
ALL DRAWINGS, SPECIFICATIONS, PLANS, CONCEPTS, ARRANGEMENTS 

DE
SC

RIP
TIO

N
DR

AW
N

DA
TE

PROJECT NUMBER

FILE NUMBER

DATE

DRAWN BY

FINAL REVIEW

SHEET NAME

SHEET

COPYRIGHT - LINDEN GROUP INC.
ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.

SHEET OF

CO
PY

RIG
HT

 LI
ND

EN
 G

RO
UP

 IN
C.

2018-0044

5-22-2018

A-0.1

Ve
te

rin
ar

y C
lin

ic
of

 Ti
nle

y P
ar

k
17

74
5 -

 17
74

9 O
ak

 P
ar

k A
ve

.
Tin

ley
 P

ar
k, 

IL

16
 W

 36
1 S

. F
ro

nt
ag

e 
Rd

.,  
Su

ite
 10

6
Bu

rr 
Rid

ge
, IL

 60
52

7
(6

30
) 7

34
-0

88
3

JA
SO

N@
RW

EM
AN

AG
EM

EN
T.C

O
M

R
 
W

 
E

M
A

N
A

G
E
M

E
N

T
C

O
M

P
A

N
Y

EXISTING SITE





EXISTING FLOOR PLAN

SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

0 2' 4' 8'

P:
\2

01
8\

20
18

-0
04

4\
Dr

aw
ing

 Fi
les

\P
re

lim
ina

ry\
20

18
-0

04
4_

As
_B

uil
t_B

uil
di

ng
.d

wg
  5

/2
2/

20
18

 2:
41

 P
M

  A
-1

.0

WWW.LINDENGROUPINC.COM
(708) 799-4400

ORLAND PARK, ILLINOIS     60467
10100 ORLAND PARKWAY  SUITE 110

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE
INTERIOR ARCHITECTURE

LAND PLANNING
ARCHITECTURE

AUTHORIZATION OF LINDEN GROUP INC.
ANY PERSONS FOR ANY PURPOSE WITHOUT THE EXPRESS WRITTEN 
LINDEN GROUP INC.  NONE OF THE ABOVE MAY BE DISCLOSED TO 
ARE INSTRUMENTS OF SERVICE, AND THEREFORE ARE THE PROPERTY OF 
AND DESIGNS REPRESENTED OR REFERRED TO IN THESE DOCUMENTS 
ALL DRAWINGS, SPECIFICATIONS, PLANS, CONCEPTS, ARRANGEMENTS 

DE
SC

RIP
TIO

N
DR

AW
N

DA
TE

PROJECT NUMBER

FILE NUMBER

DATE

DRAWN BY

FINAL REVIEW

SHEET NAME

SHEET

COPYRIGHT - LINDEN GROUP INC.
ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.

SHEET OF

CO
PY

RIG
HT

 LI
ND

EN
 G

RO
UP

 IN
C.

2018-0044

5-22-2018

A-1.0

Ve
te

rin
ar

y C
lin

ic
of

 Ti
nle

y P
ar

k
17

74
5 -

 17
74

9 O
ak

 P
ar

k A
ve

.
Tin

ley
 P

ar
k, 

IL

16
 W

 36
1 S

. F
ro

nt
ag

e 
Rd

.,  
Su

ite
 10

6
Bu

rr 
Rid

ge
, IL

 60
52

7
(6

30
) 7

34
-0

88
3

JA
SO

N@
RW

EM
AN

AG
EM

EN
T.C

O
M

R
 
W

 
E

M
A

N
A

G
E
M

E
N

T
C

O
M

P
A

N
Y

EXISTING PLANS

UNIT 'C'  

2072 SQ.FT. GROSS

TOTAL BUILDING 

6720 SQ.FT.

UNIT 'A' - EXISTING ANIMAL HOSPITAL 

2082 SQ.FT. GROSS

UNIT 'B'  

2565 SQ.FT. GROSS

http://www.innovet4vets.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/versa-dr-4-way-table.pdf
http://www.innovet4vets.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/versa-dr-4-way-table.pdf
http://www.innovet4vets.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/versa-dr-4-way-table.pdf
http://www.innovet4vets.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/versa-dr-4-way-table.pdf
http://www.innovet4vets.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/versa-dr-4-way-table.pdf
http://www.innovet4vets.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/versa-dr-4-way-table.pdf
http://www.innovet4vets.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/versa-dr-4-way-table.pdf
http://www.innovet4vets.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/versa-dr-4-way-table.pdf
http://www.innovet4vets.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/versa-dr-4-way-table.pdf
http://www.innovet4vets.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/versa-dr-4-way-table.pdf
http://www.innovet4vets.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/05/versa-dr-4-way-table.pdf


WEST ELEVATION

SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

0 2' 4' 8'

NORTH ELEVATION

SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

0 2' 4' 8'

EAST ELEVATION

SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

0 2' 4' 8'

SOUTH ELEVATION

SCALE: 1/4" = 1'-0"

0 2' 4' 8'

P:
\2

01
8\

20
18

-0
04

4\
Dr

aw
ing

 Fi
les

\P
re

lim
ina

ry\
20

18
-0

04
4_

As
_B

uil
t_E

lev
at

io
ns

.d
wg

  5
/2

2/
20

18
 2:

41
 P

M
  A

-4
.0

WWW.LINDENGROUPINC.COM
(708) 799-4400

ORLAND PARK, ILLINOIS     60467
10100 ORLAND PARKWAY  SUITE 110

LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE
INTERIOR ARCHITECTURE

LAND PLANNING
ARCHITECTURE

AUTHORIZATION OF LINDEN GROUP INC.
ANY PERSONS FOR ANY PURPOSE WITHOUT THE EXPRESS WRITTEN 
LINDEN GROUP INC.  NONE OF THE ABOVE MAY BE DISCLOSED TO 
ARE INSTRUMENTS OF SERVICE, AND THEREFORE ARE THE PROPERTY OF 
AND DESIGNS REPRESENTED OR REFERRED TO IN THESE DOCUMENTS 
ALL DRAWINGS, SPECIFICATIONS, PLANS, CONCEPTS, ARRANGEMENTS 

DE
SC

RIP
TIO

N
DR

AW
N

DA
TE

PROJECT NUMBER

FILE NUMBER

DATE

DRAWN BY

FINAL REVIEW

SHEET NAME

SHEET

COPYRIGHT - LINDEN GROUP INC.
ALL RIGHTS RESERVED.

SHEET OF

CO
PY

RIG
HT

 LI
ND

EN
 G

RO
UP

 IN
C.

2018-0044

5-22-2018

A-4.0

Ve
te

rin
ar

y C
lin

ic
of

 Ti
nle

y P
ar

k
17

74
5 -

 17
74

9 O
ak

 P
ar

k A
ve

.
Tin

ley
 P

ar
k, 

IL

16
 W

 36
1 S

. F
ro

nt
ag

e 
Rd

.,  
Su

ite
 10

6
Bu

rr 
Rid

ge
, IL

 60
52

7
(6

30
) 7

34
-0

88
3

JA
SO

N@
RW

EM
AN

AG
EM

EN
T.C

O
M

R
 
W

 
E

M
A

N
A

G
E
M

E
N

T
C

O
M

P
A

N
Y

EXISTING BUILDING
ELEVATIONS



R
 
W

 
E

M
A

N
A

G
E
M

E
N

T
C

O
M

P
A

N
Y





R
 
W

 
E

M
A

N
A

G
E
M

E
N

T
C

O
M

P
A

N
Y


	01 Agenda 20180920
	02 PC Minutes 20180906 - draft
	03 PC Staff Report - Ferguson Ent, 7950 185th St 20180920 Clean
	04 Special Use Application and Plans - Ferguson _Redacted
	05 PC Staff Report Vet clinic Variation 20180920
	06 Application for Zoning Ordinance - Vet Clinic_Redacted
	07 Final Plan Set - Vet Clinic
	2001 PLAT OF SURVEY
	Final Plan Set
	2018-0044_RWE_TinleyPark_As-Built-Set_2018-05-22_
	Sheets and Views
	2018-0044_As_Built_Site-A-0.1


	Final Plan Set
	Submittal 20180824

	2018-0044_RWE_TinleyPark_As-Built-Set_2018-05-22_
	Sheets and Views
	2018-0044_As_Built_Building-A-1.0
	2018-0044_As_Built_Elevations-A-4.0


	Final Plan Set.pdf
	2018-0044_Preliminary-A-0.1
	2018-0044_RWE_TinleyVet_ZONING_Option_2018-09-13
	Sheets and Views


	Final Plan Set
	2018-0044_RWE_TinleyVet_ZONING_Option_2018-09-13
	Sheets and Views
	2018-0044_Preliminary-A-4.0








